# **RECEIVED**

# STATE OF WISCONSIN<mark>07-02-2014</mark> COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT III CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS
OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs. Appeal No. 2014AP000827-CR

RORY A. McKELLIPS,

Defendant-Appellant.

# BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT RORY A. McKELLIPS

APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND SENTENCE ENTERED ON DECEMBER 6, 2013, IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MARATHON COUNTY, THE HONORABLE MICHAEL K. MORAN, PRESIDING

THOMAS E. BROWN
State Bar No. 1014318
tbrown@grgblaw.com
KATHRYN A. KEPPEL
State Bar No. 1005149
kkeppel@grgblaw.com
EMILY I. LONERGAN
State Bar No. 1070486
elonergan@grgblaw.com
Attorneys for Defendant-Appellant
Rory A. McKellips

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Defendant-appellant Rory A. McKellips, who coached girls' basketball for twenty years, was convicted of one count of using a "computerized communication system" to facilitate a child sex crime, contrary to section 948.075(1r), Stats. McKellips asserts that his older-model "flip" mobile phone, having no independent internet capability or other features now commonly found on iPhones and Android-based Smartphones, was not a "computerized communication system" under section 948.075(1r). Alternatively, he asserts that section 948.075(1r) was unconstitutional as applied to him because people of common, ordinary intelligence would not know that an older model flip mobile phone without internet capability was a computerized communication system. McKellips further seeks reversal on grounds that the circuit court's admission of testimony that he made a former basketball player whom he coached "uncomfortable" and bought her and his daughter gifts over twenty years earlier. This testimony, admitted despite glaring dissimilarities between this "other acts" evidence and the acts charged in this case, was improperly admitted under the standard established in *Sullivan*. Moreover, given the jury's acquittal on two charges involving child sex crimes, the admission of that evidence prejudiced and tainted the jury's consideration of the computer count.

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Is an older model mobile phone with no independent internet capabilities a "computerized communication system" as that term is used in section 948.075(1r) *Stats*.?

Answered "yes" by circuit court.

2. Is section 948.075(1r) unconstitutionally vague as applied and interpreted by the circuit court because persons of ordinary intelligence would not understand that use of a mobile phone that has no independent internet capabilities would constitute use

of a "computerized communication system" in violation of law?

Answered "no" by circuit court.

3. Did the circuit court improperly allow the state to introduce twenty-year old "other acts" evidence?

Answered "no" by circuit court.

# STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

This case presents an issue of first impression in Wisconsin, warranting both oral argument and publication. Oral argument would give the Court an opportunity to question counsel regarding construction of the phrase "computerized communication system" in section 948.075(1r), *Stats.*, including the Legislature's intent in enacting the statute in 2003 and in applying it in light of technological advances since its enactment. After the Court interprets this language, publication is necessary to provide guidance for citizens, attorneys and courts in applying the statute.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Nature of the Case.

The primary issue in this appeal is whether McKellips' mobile phone constituted a "computerized communication system" within the meaning of section 948.075(1r). The circuit court found that the phone met the statutory definition. After McKellips' petition for interlocutory review was denied, he went to trial, during which the court admitted "other acts" evidence proffered by the state. Ultimately, a jury convicted McKellips of one count of using a computer, i.e., his mobile phone, to facilitate a child sex crime and one count of resisting/obstructing an officer, but found him not guilty of engaging in repeated sexual assault of a child and of exposing his pubic area/genitals to a child. McKellips appeals only his conviction of violating section 948.075(1r).

# **B.** Course of Proceedings.

This action commenced with the filing of a criminal complaint on September 12, 2011. (R.1).

McKellips waived his preliminary hearing, was arraigned and received the state's information on November 21, 2011. (R.22;R.23).

On July 23, 2012, McKellips filed a motion to dismiss Count 3 of the Information, which alleged use of a computerized communication system to facilitate a child sex crime, on grounds that no reasonable jury would find that he committed that charged offense because a mobile phone without independent internet capabilities is not a "computerized communications system" as required by section 948.075(1r). (R.29;R30). Alternatively, McKellips sought an order determining that section 948.075(1r) is unconstitutionally vague as applied to him because persons of ordinary intelligence would not understand that use of a mobile phone without independent internet capabilities would constitute use of a "computerized communication system." (Id.). The state opposed the motion. (R.32).

The court considered and denied McKellips' motion at a final pretrial conference on December 21,

2012. (R.49:9-16;App.151-58). The court found that a reasonable jury would find that McKellips' phone was a "computerized communication device" within the meaning of the statute, and that the statute was not vague as applied. (Id.).

Regarding the vagueness issue, the court stated:

...given what I have decided is that this is a type of a computer as an electronic device that does perform logical arithmetic and logical functions. I don't believe that it satisfies or is unconstitutionally vague. Again, I believe that a person of ordinary intelligence would understand that using this type of technology to send messages over a computerized network would constitute the use of a communication system.

# (R.49:16;App.158).

At the same hearing, the court addressed the state's request for additional testing of McKellips' telephone and a potential expert. (R.49:17-18;App.159-60). Six days later, the state filed an amended Information adding a charge of resisting/obstructing an officer related to the phone. (R.36).

Just over a week later, the state moved to admit other acts evidence (R.37), which McKellips opposed. (*See* R.43:2). Subsequently, after receiving additional discovery, McKellips filed a supplemental brief opposing the state's motion to admit other acts evidence. (R.45). Although stating it was a "very tough decision," the court found that the evidence had more probative value than prejudicial effect and granted the state's motion. (R.43:31;App.136). The court entered an order on March 5, 2013. (R.42;App.104).

A written order regarding the court's interpretation of section 948.075(1r) was signed and entered on March 12, 2013, which was corrected, signed and entered the next day. (R.47;R.48;App.105). McKellips filed a timely petition for interlocutory appeal of that order and the order regarding the admission of other acts evidence, but this Court denied interlocutory review.

The case was tried to a jury from June 24 to June 28, 2013. (R.66-69;R.71). The jury found McKellips

guilty of the computer and resisting/obstructing counts described above but not guilty of repeated sexual assault of a child and of exposing pubic area/genitals to a child. (R.69:257-58). The court revoked bond and McKellips was remanded to state custody. (R.69:262).

McKellips filed post-verdict motions to dismiss for insufficient evidence and to reinstate bail on August 13, 2013. (R.62-R.64). He also moved to adjourn sentencing in light of the new criminal complaint the state filed (Marathon County Case Nos. 13-CF-603 and 13-CF-604) on July 19, 2013, charging McKellips and his wife Connie with perjury less than one month after the (R.65).Ultimately, following trial was concluded. motions to dismiss and in limine, the perjury charge against Connie was dismissed and the charge against McKellips was dismissed but read into the record for purposes of sentencing in the 2011 case. (See R.80:83)1. McKellips opposed the court considering the perjury

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The transcript of the November 14, 2013 hearing was not ordered as it was not necessary for this Court to address the issues in this appeal.

charge at sentencing (R.80:52-59), but the court did so over objection. (R.80:83-84).

On December 6, 2013, the court sentenced McKellips to ten years in prison plus five years extended supervision on the computer count and nine months in the local jail on the resisting charge. (R.80:92-93). The judgments of conviction and sentence as to the mobile phone and resisting/obstructing charges were entered on December 10, 2013, (R.75;R.76;App.101-03). McKellips filed a timely notice of intent to seek postconviction relief on December 19, 2013. (R.77). After receiving all transcripts, McKellips filed a timely notice of appeal on April 9, 2014. (R.81).

### C. Disposition Below.

McKellips was convicted of one count of using a "computerized communication system" to facilitate a child sex crime and one count of resisting or obstructing an officer. The circuit court sentenced McKellips to ten years in prison, plus five years extended supervision, on

the computer count and nine months in the local jail on the resisting charge.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

McKellips was a successful basketball coach in the central Wisconsin area for twenty-seven years at the time he was charged with the present offense. (R.69:66). He coached for over twenty years in Mosinee, followed by one year at Wisconsin Valley Lutheran, and finally he began coaching at Athens High School in 2010. (R.69:69). Athens is forty miles away from Mosinee, where McKellips continued to work and reside, and McKellips had difficult a time maintaining communication and respect during the off-season. During the summer of 2011, one of (R.69:70-73). McKellips' captains for the 2011 season was C.J.H. (R.69:72). C.J.H.'s mother was also organizing events for McKellips in Athens. (*Id.*) McKellips maintained contact with C.J.H. throughout the off-season in the summer of 2011. (*Id.*)

During these phone contacts with C.J.H., C.J.H. began confiding in McKellips about more personal matters, such as her friendships with other students and her relationships with her parents and step-parents. (R.69:73-74). At some point, McKellips purchased a phone for C.J.H. (R.69:83-84).

During mid-June of 2011, C.J.H. tore the ACL in her knee playing in a basketball tournament. (R.67:43). C.J.H. testified at trial that she understood that to be a serious injury, with a six-to-nine month recovery. (R.67:44). C.J.H. was upset about the injury and the impact it would have on her basketball career. (R.67:47-48;R.69:88).

C.J.H. testified at trial that from approximately mid-June to Labor Day of 2011, there were approximately three to four occasions during which she and McKellips engaged in sexual contact. (R.67:54-76). McKellips presented evidence throughout the trial in opposition to these allegations, including evidence from other individuals who were present during the times

that C.J.H. claimed to have been alone with McKellips, to pictures of the unlikely location where these incidents were alleged to have occurred, to pointing out inconsistencies in C.J.H.'s testimony. (R.66-69;71). Ultimately, the details regarding these allegations have little import on this appeal as McKellips was acquitted of charges that he had sexual contact with C.J.H. and exposed himself to her, and was convicted of a charge that did not require any sexual contact between him and C.J.H. (R.69:213; 257-60).

During this same period that C.J.H. alleged that she and McKellips were having sexual contact, the two did remain in contact by phone. (R.69:86-87). The phone McKellips was using to communicate with C.J.H. was a Motorola Moto 408-G. (R.68:10). It was undisputed that the phones with which McKellips and C.J.H. were communicating were not smart phones and did not have a data plan with which to access the internet. (R.49:7-8). Although the state alleged that C.J.H. sent McKellips picture messages through the

phone, McKellips' ability to open those messages remained in dispute, and the state presented no evidence proving that he opened the photos. (R.68:76-85;102-15). Notably, the state did not allege that McKellips utilized any picture messages in order to contact C.J.H.—only that C.J.H. sent messages to McKellips. (R.66-69;71).

At no point during the trial or at any point during the pendency of the case did anyone indicate that McKellips used Facebook, Twitter, Instagram, chat rooms, instant messaging, e-mail, or any other form of social media or computer program to contact C.J.H. (*See* R.66-69,71). The only device that was ever argued to constitute a "computerized communication system" was McKellips' cell phone, with which no one ever alleged he accessed the internet. (*Id.*)

As for the other acts evidence, T.S.'s testimony was that twenty years prior to the charged offenses, McKellips made her feel "uncomfortable" when she competed on his basketball team and she received gifts

from McKellips. (R.71:174-75). T.S. further indicated that she received notes from McKellips that "made her feel uncomfortable," and that they were "very inappropriate," although she could not recall the specific content of the notes. (*Id.*) T.S. indicated that she believed the letters were "the type of letters that a girlfriend would receive from a boyfriend." (R.71:181).

T.S. also testified about instances of physical contact; specifically, she alleged that McKellips held her hand, rubbed her thigh, and massaged her upper shoulders and back. (R.71:182-83). When asked how the "uncomfortableness" stopped, she indicated that it stopped in high school because she "avoided him" as much as she could. (R.71:183).

T.S. acknowledged on cross-examination that, despite her claims of avoiding McKellips, she actually went on a week-long vacation with the McKellips family during high school. (*Id.*) Brooke Bargender, McKellips' daughter and T.S.'s best friend during middle-school and high-school, testified that T.S. never

would have had occasion to be alone with her father, as Brooke would have always been around. (R.68:124-30). Brooke testified further that one of the gifts T.S. received actually occurred when McKellips provided Brooke with money to go shopping, and Brooke and T.S. spent that money together. (*Id.*) Finally, Brooke pointed out that while T.S. claimed to feel "uncomfortable" with McKellips and "avoided him" as much as she could, T.S. actually volunteered to spend a week with McKellips helping with basketball camps for several years after high school. (*Id.*)

At no point did T.S. indicate, either prior to trial or during trial, that McKellips engaged in -- or even attempted to engage in -- any sexual contact with her whatsoever, let alone contact that would be similar to the allegations C.J.H. made at trial. (R.71:171-87).

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

"[T]he interpretation of a statute and its application to a particular set of facts present questions of law." *State v. Soto*, 2012 WI 93, ¶14, 343 Wis. 2d 43,

53, 817 N.W.2d 848. If the meaning of the statute is clear from the plain language, the Court must give effect to that language. *Id.* at ¶19, 343 Wis. 2d at 55. Statutory terms are given their "common, ordinary, and accepted meaning, except that technical or specially-defined words or phrases are given their technical or special definitional meaning." *Id.* (quoting *State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane Cnty.*, 2004 WI 58, ¶45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 663, 681 N.W.2d 110).

Courts determining the plain meaning of a statute may look to statutory context and structure, as context may be "highly instructive in determining a term's meaning." Soto, at ¶20, 343 Wis. 2d at 55-56 (citing State v. Jensen, 2010 WI 38, ¶15, 324 Wis. 2d 586, 595, 782 N.W.2d 415). In addition, courts may consider the purposes underlying a statute in determining its meaning. Id. (citing Sheboygan Cnty. Dep't of Health & Human Servs. v. Tanya M.B., 2010 WI 55, ¶28, 325 Wis. 2d 524, 785 N.W.2d 369). Rules of statutory construction also require that a statute not be

interpreted to reach an absurd result. *Green Bay Redev. Auth. v. Bee Frank, Inc.,* 120 Wis. 2d 402, 409, 355 N.W.2d

240 (1984); *WHEDA v. Bay Shore Apartments,* 200 Wis. 2d

129, 142 (Ct. App. 1996).

This Court reviews a circuit court's admission of other acts evidence under the erroneous exercise of discretion standard. State v. Sullivan, 216 Wis. 2d 768, 780, 576 N.W.2d 30 (1998). Such rulings are sustained only if the circuit court examined the relevant facts, applied a proper standard of law and, using a demonstrable rational process, reached a conclusion a reasonable judge could reach. *Id.* at 780-81 (citing *Loy v*. Bunderson, 107 Wis. 2d 400, 414-15, 320 N.W.2d 175 (1982) (citing McCleary v. State, 49 Wis. 2d 263, 277, 182 N.W.2d (1971))). "A circuit court's failure to delineate the factors that influenced its decision constitutes an erroneous exercise of discretion." Id.

#### ARGUMENT

I. McKellips' Conviction Should Be Reversed Because He Did Not Violate Section 948.075(1r).

two issues of first This appeal presents impression. No Wisconsin appellate decision has held, or even considered, whether using a mobile phone lacking independent internet capabilities meets the definition statutory of using "computerized a communication system." Similarly, no Wisconsin court determined whether has section 948.075(1r) unconstitutional as applied where the mobile phone at issue had no independent internet capabilities.

In pertinent part, section 948.075 provides:

(1r) Whoever uses a computerized communication system to communicate with an individual who the actor believes or has reason to believe has not attained the age of 16 years with intent to have sexual contact or sexual intercourse with the individual in violation of s. 948.02 (1) or (2) is guilty of a Class C felony.

\* \* \*

(3) Proof that the actor did an act, other than use a computerized communication system to communicate

with the individual, to effect the actor's intent under sub. (1r) shall be necessary to prove that intent.

(Emphasis added). Thus, to convict McKellips of violating section 948.075(1r), the state must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that McKellips used a "computerized communication system" with intent to have sexual contact or intercourse with a child.<sup>2</sup>

#### Use Of A Mobile Phone Without Α. **Independent Internet Capabilities** Is Not Use Of A "Computerized Communication System."

The only evidence the state proffered to establish the offense of using a "computerized communication system" was McKellips' use of his mobile phone. (See R.66-69,71). The state proffered no evidence that McKellips used a desktop computer, a laptop computer, an iPad, a tablet or any similar device. Nor did the state present any evidence that McKellips logged in to computer chat rooms to seek out children for sexual purposes, or that he engaged in sending emails, talking

19

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The criminal complaint, information and amended information refer to the offense as being with "intent to facilitate a child sex crime." McKellips has elected to use the statutory language in this brief.

via Skype or Facebook, or using any other technologies commonly associated with computers to communicate with C.J.H., the alleged victim in this case. Thus, the question is whether the use of a mobile phone lacking independent internet capabilities fulfills the statutory element of using a "computerized communication system."

Wisconsin's statutes are replete with provisions created to protect children from sexual abuse or contact. See sec. 948.02 (prohibiting several different acts constituting sexual assault of a child); sec. 948.09 (sexual intercourse with a child age 16 or older); sec. 948.095 (sexual assault of a student by a school staff member); sec. 948.055 (forced viewing of or listening to sexual activity); sec. 948.06 (incest); sec. 948.07 enticement); sec. 948.08 (soliciting a child for prostitution); sec. 948.10 (exposing genitals or pubic area); sec. 948.11 (exposing child to harmful material, descriptions or narrations); and sec. 948.12 (possession of child pornography). Each section prohibits a specific type of conduct.

Section 948.075(1r) is entitled "Use of a computer to commit a child sex crime" and prohibits using a "computerized communication system" to communicate with a child. The statute does not prohibit merely communicating with a child via telephone or mobile phone.

The only reported Wisconsin decisions interpreting section 948.075 have involved use of computer webcams and/or internet chat rooms. *See State v. Olson*, 2008 WI App 171, 314 Wis. 2d 630, 762 N.W.2d 393; *State v. Schulpius*, 2006 WI App 263, 298 Wis. 2d 155, 726 N.W.2d 706. Again, no case interprets the statute in the context of a defendant's use of a mobile phone lacking internet capability.

The legislative history of the statute does not provide much guidance. The Legislative Reference Bureau's September 3, 2004 Information Bulletin, entitled "Sex Crimes and Penalties in Wisconsin,"

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