STATE OF WISCONSIN, SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED 02-24-2016

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner, -vs-

Case No.: 2014AP000827-CR

RORY A. MCKELLIPS,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM A DECISION OF THE WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS REVERSING A JUDGMENT OF THE CIRCUIT COURT

FOR MARATHON COUNTY, THE HONORABLE MICHAEL K. MORAN, PRESIDING

MARATHON COUNTY CASE NO.: 11 CF 645

RESPONSE BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Name: Attorney Scott A. Swid State Bar No.: 1026907 Name: Attorney Benjamin J. Krautkramer State Bar No.: 1047184 Address: 415 Orbiting Drive, Mosinee, WI 54455 Telephone No.: 715-692-7943

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

126, ¶ 14, 731 N.W.2d 340, 301 Wis. 2d 499 ("Had the legislature intended this

definition to apply [to an unrelated statute] as well, it would have been a simple matter to state that"). The scope of application for all of the definitions in Wis. Stat. § 943.70(1) are expressly limited only to that statutory section. Wis. Stat. § 943.70(1). Those same definitions in Wis. Stat. § 943.70(1) were passed into law in April 1982,¹² and still reference "data" as something which exists on punched cards. *See*, Wis. Stat. § 943.70(1)(f). What a person of ordinary intelligence thinks of as a "computer" has changed significantly since these definitions were created, making their application to a statute enacted twenty (20) years later perilous at best.

More importantly for purposes of these proceedings, the additional language muddles the interpretation of the jury's role in the fact finding. The jury instruction suggests that any action involving a "computer" in even the loosest form of the word constitutes a "computerized communication system." Supplementing the definition of "computer" with the 1982 definition of "computer system" makes this problem readily apparent, adding another word from the term found in Wis. Stat. § 948.075 in context entirely foreign to its 1982 legislative purpose. The use of a "computerized communication system" is an essential element of the crime for which McKellips was charged. *See, e.g.*, Wis. JI-Criminal 2135; <u>State v. Olson</u>, 2008 WI App 171, 314 Wis. 2d 630, 762 N.W.2d 393. By instructing the jury as to what "Wisconsin law" defines as a "computer"

¹² 1981 Wis. Laws, Ch. 293. For purposes of comparison, the Commodore 64, one of the earliest mass market, home computers, was first released in August of 1982.

and a "computer system," the jury instruction obfuscates the instruction in a way that relieved the State of its burden of proving the "computerized communication system" element of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *C.f.*, <u>McKellips</u>, 2015 WI App. 31 at ¶ 21; <u>Waddington v. Sarausad</u>, 555 U.S. 179, 191 (2009).¹³ *See also*, <u>State v. Harvey</u>, 2002 WI 93, ¶ 23, 254 Wis. 2d 442, 647 N.W.2d 189.

Out of the muddled distinction between "computer" circa 1982 and "computerized communication system" comes the third source of error. As noted by the Court of Appeals, the device used to access a "computerized communication system" is not itself the system. One of the major reasons McKellips has provided the Court with the supplemental appendix material regarding cellular phone networks and text messaging service is because the trial testimony does not provide a useful explanation of the technology to assist this Court in applying the elements of Wis. Stat. § 948.075(1r), much less leaving the question to a jury composed of persons presumed to have ordinary intelligence. While it may be possible for a jury hearing different testimony to differentiate between a cellular phone as being a component of a "computerized communication system," instead of the system itself, this jury was not provided

¹³ <u>Waddington</u> requires the Defendant to show that the ailing instruction "so infected the entire trial that the resulting conviction violates due process." 555 U.S. at 191. Language from the definition of "computer" in Wis. Stat. § 943.70 was inserted by the State into its questioning of Ryan Kaiser (R. 68 at 11, 14, 16, 19) and the State's Closing Argument (R. 69 at 212). At oral argument before the Court of Appeals, the State acknowledged its mistaken belief that it needed to demonstrate "use of a computer." <u>McKellips</u>, 2015 WI App. 31 at ¶ 10. The State's confusion of the issue resulted in Wis. Stat. § 943.70(1)(am) serving as a stand-in for the "computerized communication system" element of the offense throughout the trial.

the information to draw that distinction in light of the circuit court's jury instructions.

III. THE LACK OF A UNIFORM STANDARD OF APPLICATION RENDERS WIS. STAT. § 948.075(1r) UNCONSTITUTIONALLY VAGUE.

There are two (2) standards under which a statute may be rendered unconstitutionally vague. Under the first prong of the vagueness test, a statute is deemed unconstitutionally vague when it fails to warn persons wishing to obey the law that their conduct comes near the proscribed area. <u>State v. Pittman</u>, 174 Wis. 2d 255, 276, 496 N.W.2d 74 (1993). Under the second prong, the statute is void for vagueness when the enforcers of the law are unable to enforce the law without creating or applying their own set of standards. <u>Id.</u> "The ambiguity must be such that 'one bent on obedience may not discern when the region of proscribed conduct is neared, or such that the trier of fact in ascertaining guilt or innocence is relegated to creating and applying its own standards of culpability rather than applying the standards prescribed in the statute or rule.' "<u>Id.</u> at 277, *quoting State* <u>v. Courtney</u>, 74 Wis. 2d 705, 711, 247 N.W.2d 714 (1976).

A. Wis. Stat. § 948.075(1r) Provides no Enforcement Standard.

While there is "no simple litmus-paper test to determine whether a criminal statute is void for vagueness," the circumstances of the immediate case demonstrate how Wis. Stat. § 948.075(1r) provides no uniform standard of

application. <u>State v. Popanz</u>, 112 Wis. 2d 166, 332 N.W.2d 750 (1983). In the words of the circuit court:

You [the Jury] must determine whether the phone described in the evidence constitutes a computerized communication system.

R. 69 at 175. While the remainder of the jury instruction – the errant nature of which has already been discussed – attempted to mitigate the lack of an understood, defined meaning of the phrase "computerized communication system," the statute, case law, and the pattern instruction do nothing to inform the jury how to reach the necessary determination. Leaving this critical determination in the hands of an unguided jury requires the jury to develop its own "ad hoc and subjective standards," inviting arbitrary enforcement and undermining due process. <u>Popanz</u>, 112 Wis. 2d at 176. The lack of definition invites guesswork by the jury, which decides the defendant's fate.

The statute is also not applied uniformly from case to case. The basic fact pattern of our case is similar to the unpublished¹⁴ 2012 Court of Appeals decision in <u>State v. Hamilton</u>, with the notable exceptions that Hamilton used his cellular phone to connect to an Internet chat network, and was thus caught in an Internet sting operation by an undercover police officer posing as a fourteen (14) -year old girl. 2012 WI App. 52, ¶ 2, 340 Wis. 2d 740, 813 N.W.2d 247, 2012 WL 851230 (unpublished). The defendant in <u>Hamilton</u> attempted to raise this same

¹⁴ In accordance with Wis. Stat. § 809.23(3), the decision in <u>Hamilton</u> is not cited for its legal holding but for how the same statute can produce a radically different standard when applied by another circuit court and prosecutor and how the lack of a defining standard informs the law of the case. A copy of the decision is included in McKellips' Supplemental Appendix, as to comply with Wis. Stat. § 809.23(3)(c).

constitutional vagueness challenge to Wis. Stat. § 948.075(1r), but failed because he was caught in an Internet sting activity attempting to arrange sexual activity with a child under the age of sixteen (16) – precisely the conduct for which the Legislature intended the statute to apply. *See*, <u>Pittman</u>, 174 Wis. 2d at 278 ("Furthermore, when the alleged conduct of a defendant plainly falls in the prohibited zone, the defendant may not base a constitutional vagueness challenge on hypothetical facts").

What makes <u>Hamilton</u> interesting from McKellips' perspective is not the constitutional challenge, but the alleged "computerized communication system": not the phone, not the Internet, but the GSM network on which the cellular phone connected to the Internet. 2012 WI App. 52 at ¶ 11. While the State would appear to borrow the mistaken invocation of Wis. Stat. § 943.70 from the <u>Hamilton</u> case,¹⁵ the State did not introduce sufficiently comparable testimony about the cellular network on which McKellips' phone (and his accuser's phone) operated during McKellips' trial. Looking at the same statute and overlapping facts, law enforcement imposed – and asked the jury to impose - a different standard in the immediate case than had been applied (successfully) in another case. It is difficult to make the argument that Wis. Stat. § 948.075(1r) yields a uniform standard when the testimony placed before the respective triers of fact vary so critically as to the evidence of the "computerized communication system."

¹⁵ 2012 WI App. 52 at ¶ 13-14.

B. Wis. Stat. § 948.075(1r) is Void for Vagueness.

Vagueness challenges under the first prong of the test are "based on what a reasonable person who is intent on obeying the law can be expected to understand the law prohibits." *See, e.g.,* <u>State v. Chvala,</u> 2004 WI App. 53, ¶ 17, 271 Wis. 2d 115, 678 N.W.2d 880. It is not enough to say that McKellips could have avoided violating the law by not having the criminal mens rea; while McKellips denies having any sexual intent towards his accuser (and was acquitted of the sexually-related felonies in the circuit court)¹⁶, even a person having that intent should be able to obey the law by not using a "computerized communication system" with the requisite intent.

Taking a cue from the Order granting its Petition, the State argues that McKellips, and other persons of ordinary intelligence, should have known the cellular phone is a part of a "computerized communication system," despite all evidence, instruction, and argument at trial that the phone itself was the "computerized communication system." If we are to even argue the premise that persons of ordinary intelligence would be able to discern that the cellular network (voice, data, and Internet data), and not just the phone, constitutes the "computerized communication system" we must first acknowledge that the purported expert witness, the Judge approving the supplemental jury instruction after hearing the evidence, and the Assistant District Attorney who prosecuted the case – two (2) of the three (3) of whom graduated from law school – did not draw

¹⁶ It screams aloud in this case that no texts containing any sexual innuendos were introduced in this trial.

the distinction the State now requests. Moreover, the State's new standard alleging that a computerized backbone to a communication system falls within the scope of the "computerized communication system" in Wis. Stat. § 948.075(1r) would criminalize handwritten letters mailed, bar-coded, and routed by the postal service's computer system, conduct far afield of the intended ambit of the statute itself.

A statute is not unconstitutional "because the boundaries of the prohibited conduct are somewhat hazy." State v. McCoy, 143 Wis. 2d 274, 286, 421 N.W.2d 107, citing State v. Wickstrom, 118 Wis. 2d 339, 352, 348 N.W.2d 183 (Ct. App. 1984). While statutes are sufficiently definite if the meaning of its terms can by ordinary sources of construction, there is also a requirement to give technical words and phrases their peculiar meaning. Id. at 286-287; see also, Wis. Stat. § 990.01(1). The Court of Appeals determined "computerized communication" system" is a technical phrase, noting the repeated use of the phrase in multiple places within the Wisconsin Statutes. McKellips, 2015 WI App. 31 at ¶ 11. The State agreed during oral argument in the Court of Appeals, to giving a peculiar meaning to "computerized communication system" across its uses in the statutes. Id. at ¶ 12. The legislature employed a term with a peculiar meaning, which ordinary persons are required to employ, based upon the mandatory "shall" in Wis. Stat. § 990.01(1), but failed to define that term. Assuming a technical phrase has a distinct meaning, "computerized communication system" is supposed to mean something beyond the dictionary definitions of the three (3) component words to

- 31 -

the phrase. Wis. Stat. § 948.075(1r) is unconstitutionally void for vagueness because the legislature has left ordinary persons to guess at the interpretation of a phrase which should have been given a defined special meaning.

McKellips did not troll his way through Internet chat rooms, hoping to entice an anonymous stranger. He used his phone, in the same manner that millions of people use their phones every day: to have a conversation with a person he knew in real life; a conversation which included text messaging, a practice which has become increasingly common in the years following the creation of Wis. Stat. § 948.075(1r). There were no sexual texts exchanged. Virtually every means of communicating with another person more modern than two cans tethered by a length of string utilize computers (under the 1982 definition the State is fond of) in some form or another. The lack of a unifying statutory standard as to what does or does not constitute a "computerized communication system" makes it impossible for the statute to provide fair warning to the innocent. *See, e.g.,* Grayned v. City of Rockford, 408 U.S. 104, 108 (1972).

There is nothing in that pattern of activity which clearly falls within the realm of criminal conduct. Only through imputing a mental state onto McKellips to engage in the activities for which McKellips was acquitted could the communications be deemed potentially criminal. In this case, the evidence of McKellips' intent is severely lacking, as will be discussed in the harmless error analysis.

IV. HARMLESS ERROR ANALYSIS IS NOT NECESSARY WHEN A COURT DETERMINES THE REAL ISSUE WAS NOT FULLY TRIED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT.

The matter before this Court marks the intersection of two (2) related issues: the discretionary grant of a new trial for failing to try the genuine issue, and a jury instruction which alleviated one or more elements the State was required to prove. Only the latter of those issues requires a harmless error analysis. *See, e.g.,* <u>State v. Beamon, 2013 WI 47, ¶ 25, 347 Wis. 2d 559, 830 N.W.2d 681.</u>

On its face, it is simple to understand why a discretionary reversal and new trial order does not hinge on a hypothetical assessment of the jury's leanings and ample authority for doing so. <u>Root v. Saul</u>, 2006 WI App. 106, ¶ 29, 293 Wis. 2d 364, 718 N.W.2d 197 ("...if we reverse on that theory, we need not determine whether the outcome of the trial would have been different on retrial."); Vollmer v. Luety, 156 Wis. 2d 1, 19, 456 N.W.2d 797 (1990) ("Under this first category, it is unnecessary for an appellate court to first conclude that the outcome would be different on retrial"); Air Wisconsin, Inc, 98 Wis. 2d at 317-318 ("On the basis of the record before us, we cannot say that the defendant would probably win on a retrial...but we can conclude that the instruction played a significant role in the jury's determination...and that the instruction, if erroneous, prevented the defendant from having a full, fair trial of the issues of the case"). The process leading to the jury's decision was tainted by the Court's misleading jury instructions; "the impossible task" given to the jury undermines the public interest in conducting fair trials. McKellips, 2015 WI App. 31 at ¶ 21.

- 33 -

V. THE STATE CANNOT PROVE HARMLESS ERROR BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT UNDER THE FACTS OF THIS CASE.

When reviewing a conviction based on a jury instruction including an erroneous requirement, the court must determine whether, beyond a reasonable doubt, a rational jury would have found the defendant guilty, absent the presence of the error. Beamon, 2013 WI 47 at ¶ 27 (internal citations omitted). This is accomplished by reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence presented by the State in comparison to the elements of the offense¹⁷, under the totality of the circumstances. Id. at ¶ 28.

A. Use of a "Computerized Communication System."

The essential question the Court must navigate when reviewing the totality of the circumstances is whether McKellips' use of his cellular phone, to send calls and text messages, is a violation of the "computerized communication system" element of the case, in the context intended by the legislature. That issue has already been addressed by the parties' briefs, and McKellips will not re-hash those arguments here aside from acknowledging that the Court's decision on the undefined phrase will reverberate in the harmless error analysis.

¹⁷ McKellips concedes the element of Wis. Stat. § 948.075(1r) relating to the age of his accuser.

B. Intent.

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